This file was downloaded from BI Open Archive, the institutional repository (open access) at BI Norwegian Business School http://brage.bibsys.no/bi

Series of Dissertations 4/2018 ISBN: 978-82-8247-134-3

BI Norwegian Business School

Mariia Koval

Antecedents and Consequences of Unplanned Alliance Terminations

The papers of this dissertation are not available open access, due to copyright matters.

Paper 1

Termination of R&D alliances: the role of dyadic and network governance Koval, Mariia; Wathne, Kenneth H.; Hunneman, Auke & van Oest, Rutger

Paper 2

Alliance termination and firm idiosyncratic risk: the role of governance misfit

Koval, Mariia; Wathne, Kenneth H; Hunneman, Auke & Wuyts, Stefan

Paper 3

Can alliance terminations create firm value in large alliance portfolios? Koval, Mariia

A complete version of the dissertation may be borrowed in the BI Library

Antecedents and Consequences of Unplanned Alliance Terminations

Mariia Koval

No. 4 – 2018 SERIES OF DISSERTATIONS



Antecedents and Consequences of Unplanned Alliance Terminations

by Mariia Koval

A dissertation submitted to BI Norwegian Business School for the degree of PhD

PhD specialisation: Marketing

Series of Dissertations 4/2018

BI Norwegian Business School

Mariia Koval

Antecedents and Consequences of Unplanned Alliance Terminations:

© Mariia Koval 2018

Series of Dissertations 4/2018 ISBN: 978-82-8247-134-3

ISSN: 1502-2099

BI Norwegian Business School N-0442 Oslo Phone +47 4641 0000 www.bi.no

To my family

Contents

List of tables.	iii
List of figures.	iv
Preface	v
Abstract	vii
1 Introduction and overview.	1
Theoretical background	3
Dissertation overview.	12
Alliance data	14
Dissertation structure.	15
References	16
2 Termination of R&D alliances: the role of dyadic and network governance	22
Abstract	22
Introduction	22
Theory and hypotheses.	24
Research method	27
Results	30
Discussion and conclusion.	34
References	41
3 Alliance termination and firm idiosyncratic risk: the role of governance misfit	45
Abstract	45
Introduction	45
Conceptual background and hypotheses	49
Research method	54
Results	61
Discussion	63
References	74
4 Can alliance terminations create firm value in large alliance portfolios?	79
Abstract	79
Introduction	79
Theory and hypotheses	82
Method	88

	Results	91
	Discussion and conclusion.	94
	References.	104
5 S	Summary and conclusions	108
	Theoretical implications.	108
	Managerial implications	109
	Future research directions.	111
	References	113

List of tables

Table 2.1 Correlation matrix and descriptive statistics.	36
Table 2.2. Model estimates. Unplanned alliance terminations.	37
Table 2.3. First-stage models.	38
Table 2.4. Robustness check. Unplanned alliance terminations	39
Table 3.1. Independent variables.	66
Table 3.2. Descriptive statistics and correlation matrix	68
Table 3.3. Probit model of a firm's announcement of an unplanned alliance termination	69
Table 3.4. Alliance duration model	70
Table 3.5. A probit model of a firm's choice of an equity joint venture	71
Table 3.6. Idiosyncratic risk model.	72
Table 4.1. Correlation matrix.	97
Table 4.2. Probit regression of announcing alliance terminations.	99
Table 4.3. HLM regression of a firm's value, following an announcement of an all	liance
termination	100

List of figures

Figure 2.1. The joint effect of equity joint venture and prior ties on the hazard of an unplanned
alliance termination
Figure 2.2. The joint effect of equity joint venture and joint brokerage position on the hazard
of an unplanned alliance termination
Figure 3.1. Panel A. Interaction effect between excess governance and alliance duration73
Figure 3.1. Panel B. Interaction effect between a lack of governance and alliance duration73
Figure 4.1. The link between a firm's alliance portfolio size and a firm's cumulative abnormal
return, following an announcement of an alliance termination
Figure 4.2. The link between a firm's alliance portfolio size and a firm's cumulative abnormal
return, following an announcement of an alliance termination, at different levels of a firm's
internal investments
Figure 4.3. The link between a firm's alliance portfolio size and a firm's cumulative abnormal
return, following an announcement of an alliance termination, at different levels of a firm's
acquisitions
Figure 4.4. The link between a firm's alliance portfolio size and a firm's cumulative abnormal
return, following an announcement of an alliance termination, at different levels of a firm's
general partnering experience
Figure 4.5. The link between a firm's alliance portfolio size and a firm's cumulative abnormal
return, following an announcement of an alliance termination, at different levels of a firm's
partner-specific experience

Preface

Four years of the PhD program... How does it feel to be a PhD student? Time flies very fast... but looking back, you understand how much invaluable knowledge and experience you have gained, how many interesting people you have met, and how many different moments you have lived. The main outcome of PhD studies is not simply a dissertation document, but the whole process behind it. Taking new courses, getting to understand new research field, meeting regularly your advisors, traveling to various conferences, getting support from your senior colleagues and supporting your peers, being in the role as a lecturer for the first time, and, of course, working on the dissertation itself are all the inevitable parts of the PhD process. So many people are involved in this process and, thus, have to be acknowledged.

First and foremost, I thank my Advisor, Kenneth Wathne, for his endless support and all the time and efforts he has invested in our work and my professional development. I am very grateful to Kenneth that he has always believed in me. Due to Kenneth, I have understood what high quality research means, how important is to develop a well-grounded theory and methodological rigor; and that there is always room for improvement. Kenneth has also shown me how to position my work in the academic world. I have also enjoyed our communication with Kenneth outside the academic walls, as Kenneth is very knowledgeable, kind and charismatic person. I have been very fortunate to work in close collaboration with Kenneth, and I am looking forward to continue our work and to develop many new interesting ideas.

Next, I would like to thank my co-advisor, Auke Hunneman, and my co-authors, Stefan Wuyts and Rutger van Oest, for always being very responsive and providing valuable feedback on the dissertation papers. I am looking forward to continuing our collaboration and publishing our papers soon.

I thank my Thesis Proposal Committee, Jon Sande and Sven Haugland, for their valuable comments on my thesis proposal that significantly contributed to the improvement of the dissertation papers. I also would like to thank Jon for all our discussions about research and for involving me in the course on B2B Marketing. I additionally thank Sven for his valuable feedback on my job market paper at the Nordic Workshop on Interorganizational Research in Stavanger.

I thank the administration of the Department of Marketing, Bendik Samuelsen, Sissel Berg, Ingvild Kobberstad and Kristine Seeberg, for always being very supportive and helpful, approving my applications and quickly resolving administrative issues. I also would like to thank Ingvild for our warm conversations. Among others, I thank current and former faculty at the Department, Matilda Dorotic, Luk Warlop, Koen Pauwels, Ragnhild Silkoset, Henrik Jensen, Klemens Knöferle, Tuba Yilmaz, Carlos Velasco, Stefan Worm, Line Lervik-Olsen, Roy Elvegård, Elisabeth Falck, Carl Arthur Solberg, Sangeeta Singh, Harald Biong, Peter Jarnebrant, Alex Vossen, and Even Lanseng. I have enjoyed our communication a lot. I additionally thank Matilda for always being so supportive. I also would like to acknowledge Tuba Yilmaz, Stefan Worm and Carlos Velasco for helping me to prepare for the job market.

My work has significantly benefited from lots of useful feedback and suggestions provided by Chandler Johnson, Ajay Kohli, Robert Dahlstrøm, Erik Mooi, Fred Selnes, Sundar Bharadwaj, Dovev Lavie, and Olav Sorenson, among others. I gratefully acknowledge their help.

The great thing to have friends and PhD peers is that you can always share your joy and sorrow, and go together through the whole PhD journey. Among others, I would like to acknowledge Gennady Zavyalov, Nikolay Georgiev, Delphine Caruelle, Vita Galdike, Chi Hoang, Audun Reiby, Kateryna Maltseva, Olga Ungureanu, and Espen Jütte. While not having studied at the PhD program at the same time, I also would like to thank Sinem Acar-Burkay for always being so kind and supportive. Especially, I would like to acknowledge my dear and loyal friend, Daniela Cristian, for always being close and ready to help, sharing all the happy and sad moments. I much hope that we will not be far away from each other in future. I also thank my friends and PhD peers outside the Department of Marketing, Stefania Sardo, Beniamino Callegari, Olga Mikhailova, Bisrat Agegnehu, Ieva Martinkenaite, Anton Diachenko, Flladina Zilja, Daniel Massie, Asmund Rygh, Yuriy Zhovtobryukh, Yukun Ling, Afra Koulaei, Sebastian Sadowski and Tobias Otterbring, for all their support and great time spent together.

Finally, I cannot put into words how grateful I am to my family. Without enormous support of my mother, grandmother, grandfather, and uncle I would never have a courage to move abroad to continue pursuing my studies. I am so happy that I have listened to my mother's advice to choose Norway for PhD education. This was definitely the right choice. I am immensely grateful to my husband, Slava, for his decision to move together with me to Italy and then to Norway, being always close during all these years, doing everything to make it easier for me to focus on my work, and putting all the efforts to help me improve my papers. I am deeply indebted, and dedicate this Dissertation to my family.

Mariia Koval, 21 November 2017

Abstract

Despite their evident advantages, more than 50 percent of strategic alliances terminate prematurely. Still, little is known about causes of alliance terminations and even less is known about subsequent performance consequences for partnering firms. The dissertation seeks to answer the following questions: why do strategic alliances terminate prematurely and how do alliance terminations affect firm performance. The first paper investigates the antecedents of unplanned alliance terminations. The context of the study is R&D alliances. Specifically, the paper examines how governance of R&D alliances tend to reduce the risk of knowledge appropriation present in such alliances, and, consequently, the hazard of an alliance termination. The results show that dyadic and network governance structures play a complementary role in decreasing the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. The second paper focuses on the consequences of an unplanned alliance termination for firm idiosyncratic risk. The paper examines whether the way in which an alliance is organized can provide insights into the effects of an unplanned alliance termination on firm idiosyncratic risk. The findings show that termination of the misgoverned alliance decreases firm idiosyncratic risk. Importantly, this effect is contingent on how long the alliance has lasted. The third paper studies the consequences of an unplanned alliance termination for firm value. Specifically, the paper examines the link between an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination and a firm's abnormal stock returns. The results show that an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination increases a firm's abnormal returns when a firm has a larger alliance portfolio. This effect is moderated by the amount of a firm's alternative resources (own or acquired), general partnering experience and experience with the same partner (i.e., partner-specific experience). The findings from the dissertation serve to enhance managers' understanding of the antecedents and consequences of unplanned alliance terminations.

1. Introduction and dissertation overview

Strategic alliances are defined as agreements between two or more partnering firms to pursue a set of agreed upon objectives such as the joint development, production and marketing of new products, services and technologies (Gulati 1995b). For example, in 1995 GeneMedicine Inc. and Corange International Ltd. entered into an agreement valued at \$100 million to develop and commercialize gene therapy products for treating cancer (Business Wire, 1995). Another example is the alliance established between Honda and General Motors in 2017, valued at \$170 million, where the purpose was to jointly develop a next-generation fuel cell system and hydrogen storage technologies (The National, 2017). Empirical research documents a significant growth in the number of such alliances in many industries (Schilling 2009). Over the last four years, more than 10,000 strategic alliances were formed worldwide (SDC Platinum Database).

A significant body of research in marketing and strategic management suggests that strategic alliances allow firms to access new markets and technologies, to achieve economies of scale and scope, and to share costs and risks with their partners (Kale et al. 2000; Mariti and Smiley 1983; Rindfleisch and Moorman 2001, 2003). Moreover, alliances can help firms adapt to environmental dynamism, enhance innovativeness and financial performance, signal social status and recognition and, consequently, achieve a competitive advantage (Cui and O'Connor 2012; Kale et al. 2000; Lahiri and Narayanan 2013; Rindfleisch and Moorman 2001; Stuart 2000; Wuyts et al. 2004).

Despite their evident advantages, strategic alliances are inherently risky (e.g., Das et al. 1998; Oxley 1997), with more than 50 percent of alliances terminating prematurely, shortly after they have been formed (Cui 2013; Cui et al. 2011; Kogut 1989). Still, to this day, few studies have examined the causes of *an unplanned alliance termination* (i.e., a termination before the completion of an alliance project) (e.g., Cui 2013; Cui et al. 2011; Kogut 1989). Moreover, virtually no research has been conducted on the performance consequences of an unplanned alliance termination for the alliance participating firms. In light of their prevalence and economic impact, research into the antecedents and consequences of an unplanned alliance termination is of crucial theoretical and managerial importance. *The aim of this dissertation* is thus to study both *the antecedents* and *the performance consequences of an unplanned alliance termination* for the alliance participating firms.

Prior research into the determinants of unplanned alliance termination suggests that alliances between similar firms are less likely to terminate prematurely (Harrigan 1988; Park and Ungson 1997). Conversely, incompatibility of partner resources, changes in partners' strategies and the availability of outside options are significant determinants of an unplanned alliance termination (Cui 2013; Cui et al. 2011; Greve et al. 2010; Greve et al. 2013). Researchers have also argued that an unplanned alliance termination can be explained by opportunistic behaviors by alliance partners (Greve et al. 2010; Polidoro et al. 2011). Opportunism is defined as "self-interest seeking with guile" (Williamson 1975, p. 6) and including "lying, stealing, cheating, and calculated efforts to mislead, distort, disguise, obfuscate, or otherwise confuse" (Williamson 1985, p. 47). According to transaction cost economics, in order to minimize the risk of partner opportunism and to prevent an unplanned alliance termination, alliances should be appropriately governed (Heide 1994; Williamson 1985). Governance is "a mode of organizing transactions" (Williamson and Ouchi 1981) or "the means by which to infuse order, thereby to mitigate conflict, and realize mutual gain" (Williamson 2010, p. 216).

Although prior research has examined various alliance organizational forms (Fryxell et al. 2002; Hoetker and Mellewigt 2009; Krishnan et al. 2006; Lui and Ngo 2004; Luo 2002), we still know little about how alliance governance influences the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. While there is a nascent body of research on unplanned alliance terminations that has examined the role of individual alliance governance structures (e.g., Dhanaraj and Beamish 2004; Greve et al. 2010; Kogut 1989; Polidoro et al. 2011), firms in practice rely on several governance structures at the same time (e.g., Bradach and Eccles 1989; Poppo and Zenger 2002). Yet, the specific consequences of governance combinations are not fully understood (Cao and Lumineau 2015). We still do not know whether 'plural alliance governance' play a complementary or a substituting role in preventing unplanned alliance terminations. Finally, no study has thus far examined the role of alliance governance in explaining the performance consequences of an unplanned alliance termination for the alliance participating firms.

In this dissertation, we aim to address the gaps in the alliance literature by examining *the role of alliance governance structures* in explaining an unplanned alliance termination and its performance consequences for the alliance participating firms. Importantly, alliances do not exist in isolation, but are embedded in alliance networks, where third parties also engage in alliances with each other (e.g., Wassmer 2010). The structural properties of such networks can have governance implications (e.g., Rowley et al. 2000; Wuyts et al. 2012). Thus, we

distinguish between dyadic and network governance structures. Specifically, when studying the antecedents of an unplanned alliance termination, we look at the *joint effects* of *dyadic and network governance structures* in inhibiting the *hazard of an unplanned alliance termination*.

When studying the performance consequences of an unplanned alliance termination, we examine whether alliance governance can serve to shed light on the effect of an unplanned alliance termination on a firm's idiosyncratic risk. Idiosyncratic risk reflects investors' expectations of firm-specific volatility that is unrelated to the broader financial market, and it is particularly sensitive to market inefficiencies and transaction costs (Luo and Bhattacharya 2009). Additionally, we examine whether an unplanned alliance termination can create firm value when a firm already has a large alliance portfolio (i.e., multiple alliances at the same period in time) and incurs substantial costs to monitor all of its alliances. In this dissertation, we show that an unplanned alliance termination is not simply the inverse of alliance success. An unplanned alliance termination can have positive performance implications for the alliance participating firms. More specifically, we demonstrate that an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination can reduce a firm's idiosyncratic risk and increase a firm's abnormal stock returns.

In sum, we ask the following research questions in this dissertation:

- 1. To what extent do alliance governance structures serve to jointly impact the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination?
- 2. To what extent does an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination serves to impact firm idiosyncratic risk and abnormal stock returns?

Theoretical background

Scholars rely on two dominant theoretical perspectives when studying strategic alliances: transaction cost economics and the resource-based view of the firm. Transaction cost economics view alliances as hybrid organizational forms, which are "organizational arrangements that use resources and/or governance structures from more than one existing organization" (Borys and Jemison 1989, p. 235). Serving to economize on costly market transactions, hybrids are placed "between markets and hierarchies" on a spectrum of organizational arrangements (Thorelli 1986, p. 37; Williamson 1985). They are characterized by higher flexibility than hierarchies and generate lower transaction costs than markets do when

transaction hazards are present. According to the resource-based view of the firm, firms form strategic alliances in order to access partner resources. Importantly, strategic alliances allow participating firms to share costs and risks (Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven 1996). Nevertheless, transaction cost economics assumes that strategic alliances are inherently risky due to the hazard of partner opportunism (Das and Teng 2000; Greve et al. 2010; Gulati 1995a; Polidoro et al. 2011). Opportunism is defined as "self-interest seeking with guile" (Williamson 1975, p. 6) and including "lying, stealing, cheating, and calculated efforts to mislead, distort, disguise, obfuscate, or otherwise confuse" (Williamson 1985, p. 47). The hazard of partner opportunism is particularly pronounced in non-equity alliances (e.g., Gulati 1995a; Houston and Johnson 2000).

We examine the antecedents and the performance consequences of unplanned alliance terminations through the lenses of transaction cost economics and the resource based view of the firm. We believe that these two theoretical perspectives are not mutually exclusive but that they complement each other in enhancing our understanding of alliance terminations and, more broadly, strategic alliances as a phenomenon. We argue that an appropriate alliance governance structure reduces the hazard of opportunistic behaviors, and thereby serve to prevent an unplanned alliance termination. Importantly, we argue that if an unplanned alliance termination actually happens, under certain conditions it can be beneficial for the alliance participating firms. From a transaction cost perspective, an unplanned alliance termination may be appropriate if the alliance governance structure is too bureaucratic or if it does not provide sufficient safeguards from the risk of partner opportunism. From the resource-based view of the firm, an unplanned alliance termination allows a firm to abandon resources it cannot effectively monitor, and to optimize the alliance portfolio. We will discuss each of the theoretical perspectives in more detail in the following sections.

Researchers have acknowledged that firms rarely have only one alliance and usually manage multiple alliances simultaneously (e.g., Wassmer 2010). Thus, alliances do not exist in isolation but are rather embedded in alliance networks or so-called alliance portfolios. Wassmer (2010) distinguishes between additive and ego-network perspectives on alliance portfolios. From an additive perspective, an alliance portfolio is the aggregate of all strategic alliances a focal firm possesses at a specific point in time (Hoffmann 2005, 2007; Lavie 2007). Considering an alliance portfolio as a bundle of a firm's external resources that should be effectively managed, we rely on an additive perspective when studying the performance consequences of an unplanned alliance termination for the alliance participating firms. From an ego-network perspective, an alliance portfolio is a firm's ego-network, in which a firm's

direct partners can also have strategic alliances with each other (Baum et al. 2000; Rowley et al. 2000). Importantly, the structural properties of such ego-networks can have governance implications (Burt 1992; Rowley et al. 2000; Wuyts et al. 2012). We rely on an ego-network perspective to introduce a *network governance structure* - alliance partners' joint brokerage position, as an antecedent of an unplanned alliance termination. We believe that both an additive and an ego-network perspective on an alliance portfolio are important to uncover unique theoretical mechanisms which could explain alliance dynamics. We discuss each of these two perspectives in more detail in the following sections.

Transaction cost economics

Transaction cost economics (TCE) belongs to the "New Institutional Economics" paradigm, which, in contrast to neoclassical economics, views the firm as a governance structure rather than a production function (Rindfleisch and Heide 1997). This view relies on Coase's (1937) ideas that firms (or internal organizations) and markets are alternative governance structures, which can be relied on, depending on their levels of transaction costs. Transaction costs are the so-called "costs of running the system" that "include such ex ante costs as drafting and negotiating contracts and such ex post costs as monitoring and enforcing agreements" (Rindfleisch and Heide 1997, p. 31).

Oliver E. Williamson has extended Coase's arguments considerably and identified two main transaction attributes that determine the reliance on firms and markets, namely, transaction-specific assets and uncertainty (Williamson 1975, 1985). Transaction specific assets are physical and human assets that are tailored to a particular transaction and thus cannot be easily redeployed without a loss of value. The second transaction attribute, uncertainty, describes transactions in which "the circumstances surrounding an exchange cannot be specified ex ante (i.e., environmental uncertainty) and performance cannot be easily verified ex post (i.e., behavioral uncertainty)." (Rindfleisch and Heide 1997, p. 31). Williamson incorporates two key assumptions of human behavior – bounded rationality and opportunism (Williamson 1975, 1985, 1996). Bounded rationality implies that individuals have limited cognitive abilities, time and information constraints that prevent them from acting perfectly rational when making decisions. TCE suggests that bounded rationality becomes more problematic when environmental uncertainty increases, so that not all the conditions of the transaction can be specified ex ante. Moreover, under the condition of behavioral uncertainty, bounded rationality hinders ex post performance verification. This generates additional transaction costs.

Opportunism is defined as "self-interest seeking with guile" (Williamson 1975, p. 6) and including "lying, stealing, cheating, and calculated efforts to mislead, distort, disguise, obfuscate, or otherwise confuse" (Williamson 1985, p. 47). Wathne and Heide (2000) distinguish between two forms of opportunism – passive opportunism and active opportunism. Passive opportunism can take the form of shirking, inflexibility or refusal to adapt to new circumstances. Active opportunism is reflected in behaviors that are explicitly prohibited (Wathne and Heide 2000). When a relationship is characterized by a higher level of asset-specificity, both forms of opportunism pose a significant threat to the alliance participating parties and, hence, increase transaction costs.

Bounded rationality and opportunism create an adaptation problem (Williamson 2002). If the costs associated with adaptation exceed the production cost advantages of the market, firms will vertically integrate (i.e., favor internal organization) (Williamson 1975). The assumption underlying this argument is that internal organization allows for the minimization of transaction costs through superior control and monitoring mechanisms. This allows a firm to detect partner opportunism and facilitate coordinated adaptation. Furthermore, being able to reward employees within a firm through, for example, promotion opportunities, internal organization may reduce the payoff from opportunism (Rindfleisch and Heide 1997). Finally, the presence of so-called atmosphere stemming from organization culture and socialization processes create convergent goals and reduce opportunism ex post within an organization (Williamson 1975).

Extensions to Transaction cost economics

Despite the TCE's historic arguments for a discrete choice between markets and internal organizations, in the last decades, the TCE framework has been extended in a number of ways. Researchers now suggest that the advantages of internal organization can also be present in other organizational forms (Rindfleisch and Heide 1997). Examples include various hybrid mechanisms, ranging from contractual agreements (e.g., non-equity alliances) to equity arrangements (e.g., equity joint ventures) (e.g., Gulati 1995a; Houston and Johnson 2000; Pisano 1989). Relying on this more recent TCE literature, we examine whether two of the most studied alternative hybrid mechanisms, namely equity joint ventures and non-equity alliances, can serve to explain the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination and the subsequent performance consequences.

Existing research has primarily examined the role of dyadic governance (e.g., equity and prior ties) (e.g., Dhanaraj and Beamish 2004; Kogut 1989). Governance is a "mode of

organizing transactions" (Williamson and Ouchi 1981) or "the means by which to infuse order, thereby to mitigate conflict, and realize mutual gain" (Williamson 2010, p. 216). As evidenced by the existing body of research, these definitions comprise somewhat different phenomena, including 1) governance mechanisms that can be purposely deployed, and 2) governance structures which emerge over time in a relationship (e.g., Heide 1994; Parmigiani and Rivera-Santos 2011). While prior research has focused on individual governance structures, in practice, firms rely on several governance structures at the same time (e.g., Bradach and Eccles 1989; Poppo and Zenger 2002). We examine the combined effects of alliance governance structures on the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. Importantly, alliances do not exist in isolation but are rather embedded in alliance networks, in which a firm's direct partners can also have strategic alliances with each other (Baum et al. 2000; Rowley et al. 2000). The structural properties of such networks can have governance implications (Burt 1992; Rowley et al. 2000; Wuyts et al. 2012). Thus, studying alliance networks allows researchers to introduce network governance structures beyond strictly dyadic ones. In this dissertation, we extend the literatures on alliance governance and termination by examining the impact of both dyadic and network governance structures on the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination.

The interplay of dyadic governance structures

In the TCE literature, there is an ongoing debate on how the interplay between dyadic governance structures affects firm performance in ongoing relationships. A number of scholars view distinct dyadic governance structures (e.g., relational norms, contracts or hierarchical structures) as substitutes (Dyer and Singh 1998; Granovetter 1985; Gulati 1995a; Uzzi 1997). Some argue that relational norms provide more effective and less costly safeguards from partner opportunism than other governance mechanisms (Hill 1990; Uzzi 1997). Other researchers go even as far as to say that specific contracts can promote instead of hinder opportunistic behaviors through signaling distrust (e.g., Ghoshal and Moran 1996).

Conversely, other researchers (e.g., Poppo and Zenger 2002) argue that distinct dyadic governance structures (e.g., relational governance structures and specific contracts) serve as complements. Instead of inhibiting relational governance, specific contracts can promote trust and cooperation between parties dampening the risk of partner opportunism. Relational governance structure, on the other hand, can smooth possible complications and conflicts outside contract boundaries (Poppo and Zenger 2002). Moreover, cooperation enhanced by relational governance structure can stimulate contractual refinements that may further promote cooperation. While Poppo and Zenger (2002) find empirical support for their argument about

the complementary role of distinct dyadic governance structures in performance of ongoing relationships, the results of other empirical studies are mixed. Some of them find support for the argument about the substitution role of dyadic governance structures. Others confirm the complementary role, or find no significant results (Cao and Lumineau 2015)¹. In this dissertation, we examine the interplay between dyadic governance structures, such as prior ties and equity joint venture, in the context of unplanned alliance termination. Particularly, we investigate whether the above-mentioned dyadic governance structures play a complementary or a substitution role in decreasing the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination.

Network governance

Strategic alliances typically do not exist in isolation, but are embedded in alliance networks. Such networks can emerge when firms have multiple alliances simultaneously (e.g., Wassmer 2010). Firms' direct partners can also be engaged in alliances with each other, thereby forming indirect partnerships. A firm's alliances with direct and indirect partners constitute an ego-network (Baum et al. 2000; Burt 1992; Rowley et al. 2000). Depending on the configuration of firms' direct and indirect partnerships, ego-networks can have different structural properties.

The social network literature provides two central arguments regarding the advantages that certain network structures may create for alliance participating firms, namely, the "closure argument" and the "structural hole argument" (Burt 2005). The closure argument suggests that firms generate social capital by being embedded in a network of strongly interconnected parties (Burt 2005; Coleman 1988). Social capital are the resources that result from a firm's position in the social network (Bourdieu and Wacquant 1992). In contrast, the structural hole argument suggests that firms generate social capital from a network in which they are brokers between otherwise disconnected parties (Burt 1992, 2005).

Coleman (1988) claims that dense networks are able to govern (constrain) partner behaviors in a group and may promote cooperation. Alliance partners embedded in a dense network are less likely to behave opportunistically as their mutual partners will be immediately aware of such actions. In other words, since dense networks provide collective monitoring and sanctioning, the incentives to cooperate in such networks are higher. As such, dense networks

¹ For a detailed literature review on the interplay of formal and informal governance in interorganizational relationships, see Cao and Lumineau (2015).

serve as a trust-based governance mechanism in strategic alliances (Rowley et al. 2000). Importantly, strongly interconnected partnerships are not always beneficial for alliance participating firms because they do not give partners immediate access to novel information (Burt 1992; Granovetter 1973). This undermines a firm's possibility to capture new industry trends and consequently decreases its competitiveness. Therefore, dense networks are advantageous for promoting trust and cooperation, but often provide only redundant information (Rowley et al. 2000).

In contrast to dense networks, sparse networks can provide firms with access to unique information (Burt 1992). When a firm occupies many structural holes in a sparse network (i.e., connect many otherwise disconnected partners), it not only gets access to novel information, but it can also control the potential benefits from that information. Being a broker between disconnected partners, a firm is able to control and facilitate the exchange of information across the alliance network. On the other hand, contrary to dense networks, sparse networks do not allow for effective collective monitoring and sanctioning, as the possibly opportunistic behaviors of a broker are not immediately visible to other parties in the network. Therefore, sparse networks give firms a possibility to efficiently obtain and control information (resources), but they may not develop governance mechanisms to impede partner opportunism (Rowley et al. 2000).

Although the 'closure' and 'structural hole' arguments regarding the advantages of dense and sparse networks are conflicting, Burt (2005) argues that the contradiction can be resolved in a more general theoretical framework of social capital. Thus, brokerage positions allow firms to *create value* by providing timely access to unique information. In turn, closure can be critical for *value capturing* by dampening the risk of partner opportunism. In this dissertation, we study whether alliance partners' joint brokerage position in an alliance network can create value in R&D alliances and reduce the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination when the alliance is organized as an equity joint venture.

Misaligned governance

According to transaction cost economics, governance structures are relied on by firms to minimize the transaction hazards in interfirm relationships (Williamson 1985). TCE is a normative theory, predicting that governance structures that are aligned with transaction hazards will serve to improve performance (Noordewier et al. 1990). Stated differently, an alliance governance structure should *match* the transaction hazards present in an alliance. If

alliance governance structures are not aligned with transaction attributes (i.e., transaction specific assets and uncertainty), the alliance is characterized by *misaligned governance*.

We distinguish between two types of misaligned governance: excess governance and a lack of governance. Excess governance emerges if a hierarchical governance structure (e.g., internal organization or various equity arrangements like an equity joint venture) is chosen when transaction hazards are low. Despite their ability to provide safeguards from partner opportunism, a hierarchical governance structure suffers from low-powered incentives to create value and a reduced ability to quickly adapt to changing circumstances (Ghosh and John 1999). For example, employees of an organization may tend to pursue their personal goals and report only partially relevant information to the supervisor, thereby possibly creating communication distortion (Williamson 1975). Moreover, a hierarchical governance structure is characterized by 'persistence behavior' (Williamson 1975, p. 121). Incurred sunk costs pertaining to existing projects may prevent a firm from pursuing more promising alternatives (Williamson 1975). Thus, a hierarchical governance structure should only be chosen when the transaction hazards are high. Conversely, a lack of governance emerges when a firm chooses a non-hierarchical governance structure (e.g., various bilateral arrangements like a non-equity alliance or a contract) when the transaction hazards are high. Although these organizational arrangements exhibit high strategic flexibility due to the partners' high-powered incentives (e.g., in the form of milestone payments), they are not able to provide the same safeguards from partner opportunism. Thus, a non-hierarchical governance structure should only be chosen when the transaction hazards are low.

Prior empirical research suggests that misaligned governance adversely affects firm performance in ongoing relationships (e.g., Leiblein et al. 2002; Nickerson and Silverman 2003; Sampson 2004; Sande and Haugland 2015). Leiblein et al. (2002) find that a misalignment between a firm's governance decision to outsource or internalize production and transaction hazards undermines a firm's technological performance. Similarly, Nickerson and Silverman (2003) show that firms that poorly govern a core transaction gain lower profits than their counterparts who choose the right governance structures. Sande and Haugland (2015) show that misaligned formal governance has a negative effect on end-product enhancements. Therefore, a firm should avoid relying on governance structures that are not aligned with the transaction hazards. In this dissertation, we examine whether termination of misaligned alliances can be beneficial, serving to reduce a firm's idiosyncratic risks.

The resource-based view of the firm

The resource-based view of the firm (RBV) has recently become an influential theoretical framework in the management literature. The RBV conceptualizes a firm as a bundle of idiosyncratic resources (Penrose 1959; Rumelt 1984; Wernerfelt 1984). Specifically, Rumelt (1984) and Wernerfelt (1984) suggest that firm profitability depends on the internal development or acquisition of resources, the types of these resources, different ways of employing the resources, and their learning capabilities (Lavie 2006). Providing a more dynamic perspective on RBV, Dierickx and Cool (1989) argue that only the accumulated stock of nontradable, inimitable, and nonsubstitutable resources matter for a firm's competitive advantage. Such resources can be either tangible (e.g., financial assets, technology) or intangible (e.g., reputation, managerial skills) (Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven 1996). Importantly, the resources set the limits for a firm's strategic choices (e.g., which market to enter) and its expected profits (Wernerfelt 1984). Key resource constraints are shortage of labor or physical investments, shortage of finance, lack of sufficient managerial capacity, and lack of suitable investment opportunities (Mahoney and Pandian 1992).

The RBV perspective on strategic alliances and alliance portfolios

Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven (1996) extended the RBV by adding strategic alliances to the theoretical framework. According to Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven (1996, p. 137), strategic alliances are "cooperative relationships driven by a logic of strategic resource needs and social resource opportunities". Being in a vulnerable strategic position (e.g., high competition, innovative technologies, emerging markets), firms need external resources (e.g., technical know-how, cash or legitimacy). Thus, alliances are viewed as strategically important mechanisms to access partner resources necessary to overcome internal resource constraints (e.g., Wassmer 2010). Importantly, occupying strong social positions, firms also leverage their own resources to create alliance opportunities. For example, firms with large, experienced, and well-connected top management teams have assets (e.g., time, skills, status and connections) to form alliances frequently (Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven 1996).

When firms have multiple alliances simultaneously (i.e., when they have a portfolio of alliances), they get access to a broad range of alliance resources from various partners (Wassmer 2010). These resources allow firms to enhance their resource stock and their capacity to gain relational rents (Ahuja 2000; Hoffmann 2007; Lavie 2006). An important stream of alliance portfolio research has examined the relationship between alliance portfolio size and firm performance. The findings of these studies are mixed. Shan (1990) reports that a start-up's

number of alliances have a positive linear effect on its innovative output. In contrast, Deeds and Hill (1996) find a curvilinear relationship between a firm's number of alliances and the rate of new product development, suggesting a diminishing return from each additional alliance in an alliance portfolio after a certain threshold. Importantly, scholars have argued that in order to achieve maximum benefits from an alliance portfolio, firms should develop alliance capability (Anand and Khanna 2000; Hoffmann 2005; Kale et al. 2002). Alliance capability on the portfolio level is the ability to develop an alliance portfolio strategy, form an effective alliance management system, and coordinate and monitor the alliance portfolio (Hoffmann 2005). Hence, alliance capability is an important contingency factor in determining the effects of alliance portfolio size on firm performance. In this dissertation, we examine alliance terminations as a way to address a firm's existing resource constraints stemming from a larger alliance portfolio. We also study the extent to which a firm's own or acquired resources and its alliance capability, reflected in the firm's alliance experience, moderate the effect of alliance portfolio size on firm value, following an alliance termination.

Dissertation overview

This dissertation consists of three essays. In the first essay, we investigate the antecedents of unplanned alliance terminations. The context of the study is R&D alliances. Firms enter into R&D alliances in order to acquire and leverage knowledge (e.g., Li et al. 2012). At the same time, they also face a risk of knowledge appropriation (Katila et al. 2008; Li et al. 2008; Li et al. 2012; Sampson 2007). We argue that when the risk of knowledge appropriation is high, this can result in an unplanned alliance termination. Relying on transaction cost analysis, we examine how the governance of R&D alliances can reduce the risk of knowledge appropriation, and, consequently, the hazard of an alliance termination. Specifically, we study the joint effects of dyadic (i.e., an equity joint venture and prior ties) and network governance structures (i.e., partner's joint brokerage position). We argue that an equity joint venture and prior ties or partners' joint brokerage position should play a complementary role in reducing the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. Furthermore, we submit that when R&D alliances are organized as non-equity alliances, both prior ties and partners' joint brokerage position can increase the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. We conduct an event history analysis to estimate the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. To obtain the correct estimates for the effects of governance mechanisms, we correct for possible endogeneity of the alliance

governance (i.e., the choice of an equity joint venture; the choice of an alliance with the same partner).

In the second and third essays, we examine the consequences of unplanned alliance terminations. While the formation of a strategic alliance has been shown to reduce a firm's idiosyncratic risk (e.g., Mani and Luo 2015; Thomaz and Swaminathan 2015), we still do not know how an unplanned alliance termination can influence firm idiosyncratic risk. It is important to note that alliance termination is not simply the inverse of alliance formation. The reason being that firms typically make idiosyncratic investments in the alliance over time (e.g., Seabright et al. 1992), influencing the effect of an unplanned alliance termination. In the second essay, we thus examine the link between an unplanned alliance termination and a firm's idiosyncratic risk. Drawing on transaction cost analysis, we investigate whether the way in which an alliance is organized can provide insights into the effects of an unplanned alliance termination on firm idiosyncratic risk. We argue that termination of a misgoverned alliance can be evaluated positively by the investors and may signal a firm's correction of a previous "governance mistake". Therefore, the termination of such alliance could decrease firm idiosyncratic risk. Importantly, however, we also argue that the longer the alliance has lasted, the more complicated the alliance termination will be. The termination of an older alliance can signal a loss of alliance-specific investments made by the alliance partners over time, and bear additional risk for a focal firm.

To test the theoretical arguments in the second study, we rely on *an event study*, which allows us to estimate investor expectations of a firm's own volatility (i.e., firm idiosyncratic risk) before and after the announcement of an alliance termination. To estimate the effects of misgovernance, we apply *a two-stage modelling approach* (Brouthers et al. 2003; Castaner et al. 2014; Leiblein et al. 2002). In the first stage, we estimate the probabilities of a firm's choice of an alliance governance structure based on transaction attributes. These probabilities allow us to calculate the levels of "excess governance" and "a lack of governance" in an alliance. In the second stage, we run a 3-level HLM regression to estimate the relationship between an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination and firm idiosyncratic risk when an alliance is misgoverned.

In the third essay, which is a singled-authored project, I study the implications of an unplanned alliance termination for firm value. Specifically, I examine the link between an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination and a firm's abnormal stock returns, relying on a resource-based view and an alliance portfolio perspective. By engaging in multiple strategic alliances, a firm forms an alliance portfolio. A larger alliance portfolio helps a firm

develop new opportunities and adapt to environmental dynamism, so that it may improve innovation and financial performance. However, a larger alliance portfolio can also undermine firm performance due to a firm's limited abilities to effectively manage and monitor multiple partners, and a firm's limited ability to absorb new knowledge. Thus, I examine the extent to which an alliance termination can create abnormal returns for firms with a larger alliance portfolio. I argue that an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination should increase a firm's abnormal returns when a firm has a larger alliance portfolio. In such cases, the announcement of an unplanned alliance termination signals a firm's intention to address existing resource constraints. Importantly, I argue that this effect is moderated by the amount of a firm's alternative resources (own or acquired), general partnering experience, and experience with the same partner (i.e., partner-specific experience). To test our predictions, I conduct an event study.

Alliance data

The data in this dissertation was compiled from multiple sources. We gathered data on unplanned alliance terminations and alliance survival over a 20-year period (1989-2008) from SDC Platinum and Factiva databases. In order to distinguish between planned and unplanned alliance terminations, we collected information on the circumstances leading to the terminations, relying on multiple data sources, including SDC deal-text statements, news stories published in Factiva, press releases from company websites and Edgar fillings (i.e., company annual reports). The first essay focuses solely on R&D alliances formed in stabletech and high-tech industries. These alliances are particularly sensitive to the risk of knowledge appropriation. To construct alliance partners' ego-networks, we collected data on alliance partners' direct and indirect partnerships from SDC Platinum database. The second and third essays focus on alliances with different activities (e.g., R&D, marketing or manufacturing). To calculate the change in a firm's idiosyncratic risk and firm abnormal stock returns, following an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination, we relied on stock return and firm financial data from CRSP and Compustat databases, respectively. The SDC Platinum database was also used to construct a firm's alliance portfolio, calculate alliance experience, and the number of acquisitions a firm has announced.

Dissertation structure

The remainder of this dissertation is organized as follows. Chapter 2 discusses the antecedents of unplanned alliance terminations. Chapter 3 and 4 focus on the performance consequences of unplanned alliance terminations. Chapter 5 discusses the results, their theoretical and practical implications, and identifies promising areas for future research.

REFERENCES

- Ahuja, G. (2000), "Collaboration Networks, Structural Holes, and Innovation: A Longitudinal Study," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 45 (3), 425-55.
- Anand, B. N. and T. Khanna (2000), "Do Firms Learn to Create Value? The Case of Alliances," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 295-315.
- Baum, J. A. C., T. Calabrese, and B. S. Silverman (2000), "Don't Go It Alone: Alliance Network Composition and Startups' Performance in Canadian Biotechnology," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 267-94.
- Borys, B. and D. B. Jemison (1989), "Hybrid Arrangements as Strategic Alliances: Theoretical Issues in Organizational Combinations," *Academy of Management Review*, 14 (2), 234-49
- Bourdieu, P. and L. JD Wacquant (1992), An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology: University of Chicago press.
- Bradach, J. L. and R. G. Eccles (1989), "Price, Authority, and Trust: From Ideal Types to Plural Forms," *Annual Review of Sociology*, 15, 97-118.
- Brouthers, K. D., L. E. Brouthers, and S. Werner (2003), "Transaction Cost-Enhanced Entry Mode Choices and Firm Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 24 (12), 1239-48.
- Burt, R. S. (1992), Structural Holes. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- ---- (2005), Brokerage and Closure: An Introduction to Social Capital: Oxford university press.
- Cao, Zhi and Fabrice Lumineau (2015), "Revisiting the Interplay between Contractual and Relational Governance: A Qualitative and Meta-Analytic Investigation," *Journal of Operations Management*, 33–34 (0), 15-42.
- Castaner, X., L. Mulotte, B. Garrette, and P. Dussauge (2014), "Governance Mode Vs. Governance Fit: Performance Implications of Make-or-Ally Choices for Product Innovation in the Worldwide Aircraft Industry, 1942-2000," *Strategic Management Journal*, 35 (9), 1386-97.
- Coase, R. H. (1937), "The Nature of the Firm," *Economica*, 4 (16), 386-405.
- Coleman, J. S. (1988), "Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital," *American Journal of Sociology*, 94, S95-S120.
- Cui, A. S. (2013), "Portfolio Dynamics and Alliance Termination: The Contingent Role of Resource Dissimilarity," *Journal of Marketing*, 77 (3), 15-32.
- Cui, A. S., R. J. Calantone, and D. A. Griffith (2011), "Strategic Change and Termination of Interfirm Partnerships," *Strategic Management Journal*, 32 (4), 402-23.
- Cui, A. S. and G. O'Connor (2012), "Alliance Portfolio Resource Diversity and Firm Innovation," *Journal of Marketing*, 76 (4), 24-43.
- Das, S., P. K. Sen, and S. Sengupta (1998), "Impact of Strategic Alliances on Firm Valuation," Academy of Management Journal, 41 (1), 27-41.
- Das, T. K. and B. S. Teng (2000), "Instabilities of Strategic Alliances: An Internal Tensions Perspective," *Organization Science*, 11 (1), 77-101.

- Deeds, D. L. and C. W. L. Hill (1996), "Strategic Alliances and the Rate of New Product Development: An Empirical Study of Entrepreneurial Biotechnology Firms," *Journal of Business Venturing*, 11 (1), 41-55.
- Dhanaraj, C. and P. W. Beamish (2004), "Effect of Equity Ownership on the Survival of International Joint Ventures," *Strategic Management Journal*, 25 (3), 295-305.
- Dierickx, I. and K. Cool (1989), "Asset Stock Accumulation and Sustainability of Competitive Advantage," *Management Science*, 35 (12), 1504-11.
- Dyer, J. H. and H. Singh (1998), "The Relational View: Cooperative Strategy and Sources of Interorganizational Competitive Advantage," *Academy of Management Review*, 23 (4), 660-79.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. and C. B. Schoonhoven (1996), "Resource-Based View of Strategic Alliance Formation: Strategic and Social Effects in Entrepreneurial Firms," *Organization Science*, 7 (2), 136-50.
- Fryxell, G. E., R. S. Dooley, and M. Vryza (2002), "After the Ink Dries: The Interaction of Trust and Control in Us-Based International Joint Ventures," *Journal of Management Studies*, 39 (6), 865-86.
- Ghosh, M. and G. John (1999), "Governance Value Analysis and Marketing Strategy," *Journal of Marketing*, 63, 131-45.
- Ghoshal, S. and P. Moran (1996), "Bad for Practice: A Critique of the Transaction Cost Theory," *Academy of Management Review*, 21 (1), 13-47.
- Granovetter, M. (1985), "Economic-Action and Social-Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness," *American Journal of Sociology*, 91 (3), 481-510.
- Granovetter, M. S. (1973), "The Strength of Weak Ties," *American Journal of Sociology*, 78 (6), 1360-80.
- Greve, H. R., J. A. C. Baum, H. Mitsuhashi, and T. J. Rowley (2010), "Built to Last but Falling Apart: Cohesion, Friction, and Withdrawal from Interfirm Alliances," *Academy of Management Journal*, 53 (2), 302-22.
- Greve, H. R., H. Mitsuhashi, and J. A. C. Baum (2013), "Greener Pastures: Outside Options and Strategic Alliance Withdrawal," *Organization Science*, 24 (1), 79-98.
- Gulati, R. (1995a), "Does Familiarity Breed Trust: The Implications of Repeated Ties for Contractual Choice in Alliances," *Academy of Management Journal*, 38 (1), 85-112.
- ---- (1995b), "Social Structure and Alliance Formation Patterns: A Longitudinal Analysis," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 40 (4), 619-52.
- Harrigan, K. R. (1988), "Joint Ventures and Competitive Strategy," *Strategic Management Journal*, 9 (2), 141-58.
- Heide, J. B. (1994), "Interorganizational Governance in Marketing Channels," *Journal of Marketing*, 58 (1), 71-85.
- Hill, C. W. L. (1990), "Cooperation, Opportunism, and the Invisible Hand: Implications for Transaction Cost Theory," *Academy of Management Review*, 15 (3), 500-13.

- Hoetker, G. and T. Mellewigt (2009), "Choice and Performance of Governance Mechanisms: Matching Alliance Governance to Asset Type," *Strategic Management Journal*, 30 (10), 1025-44.
- Hoffmann, W. H. (2005), "How to Manage a Portfolio of Alliances," *Long Range Planning*, 38 (2), 121-43.
- ---- (2007), "Strategies for Managing a Portfolio of Alliances," *Strategic Management Journal*, 28 (8), 827-56.
- Houston, M. B. and S. A. Johnson (2000), "Buyer-Supplier Contracts Versus Joint Ventures: Determinants and Consequences of Transaction Structure," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 37 (1), 1-15.
- Kale, P., J. H. Dyer, and H. Singh (2002), "Alliance Capability, Stock Market Response, and Long-Term Alliance Success: The Role of the Alliance Function," *Strategic Management Journal*, 23 (8), 747-67.
- Kale, P., H. Singh, and H. Perlmutter (2000), "Learning and Protection of Proprietary Assets in Strategic Alliances: Building Relational Capital," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 217-37.
- Katila, R., J. D. Rosenberger, and K. M. Eisenhardt (2008), "Swimming with Sharks: Technology Ventures, Defense Mechanisms and Corporate Relationships," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 53 (2), 295-332.
- Kogut, B. (1989), "The Stability of Joint Ventures: Reciprocity and Competitive Rivalry," *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 38 (2), 183-98.
- Krishnan, R., X. Martin, and N. G. Noorderhaven (2006), "When Does Trust Matter to Alliance Performance?," *Academy of Management Journal*, 49 (5), 894-917.
- Lahiri, N. and S. Narayanan (2013), "Vertical Integration, Innovation, and Alliance Portfolio Size: Implications for Firm Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 34 (9), 1042-64.
- Lavie, D. (2006), "The Competitive Advantage of Interconnected Firms: An Extension of the Resource-Based View," *Academy of Management Review*, 31 (3), 638-58.
- ---- (2007), "Alliance Portfolios and Firm Performance: A Study of Value Creation and Appropriation in the Us Software Industry," *Strategic Management Journal*, 28 (12), 1187-212.
- Leiblein, M. J., J. J. Reuer, and F. Dalsace (2002), "Do Make or Buy Decisions Matter? The Influence of Organizational Governance on Technological Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 23 (9), 817-33.
- Li, D., L. Eden, M. A. Hitt, and R. D. Ireland (2008), "Friends, Acquaintances, or Strangers? Partner Selection in R&D Alliances," *Academy of Management Journal*, 51 (2), 315-34.
- Li, D., L. Eden, M. A. Hitt, R. D. Ireland, and R. P. Garrett (2012), "Governance in Multilateral R&D Alliances," *Organization Science*, 23 (4), 1191-210.
- Lui, S. S. and H. Y. Ngo (2004), "The Role of Trust and Contractual Safeguards on Cooperation in Non-Equity Alliances," *Journal of Management*, 30 (4), 471-85.

- Luo, X. M. and C. B. Bhattacharya (2009), "The Debate over Doing Good: Corporate Social Performance, Strategic Marketing Levers, and Firm-Idiosyncratic Risk," *Journal of Marketing*, 73 (6), 198-213.
- Luo, Y. D. (2002), "Building Trust in Cross-Cultural Collaborations: Toward a Contingency Perspective," *Journal of Management*, 28 (5), 669-94.
- Mahoney, J. T. and J. R. Pandian (1992), "The Resource-Based View within the Conversation of Strategic Management," *Strategic Management Journal*, 13 (5), 363-80.
- Mani, S. and X. M. Luo (2015), "Product Alliances, Alliance Networks, and Shareholder Value: Evidence from the Biopharmaceutical Industry," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 32 (1), 9-22.
- Mariti, P. and R. H. Smiley (1983), "Co-Operative Agreements and the Organization of Industry," *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 31 (4), 437-51.
- Nickerson, J. A. and B. S. Silverman (2003), "Why Firms Want to Organize Efficiently and What Keeps Them from Doing So: Inappropriate Governance, Performance, and Adaptation in a Deregulated Industry," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 48 (3), 433-65.
- Noordewier, T. G., G. John, and J. R. Nevin (1990), "Performance Outcomes of Purchasing Arrangements in Industrial Buyer-Vendor Relationships," *Journal of Marketing*, 54 (4), 80-93.
- Oxley, J. E. (1997), "Appropriability Hazards and Governance in Strategic Alliances: A Transaction Cost Approach," *Journal of Law Economics & Organization*, 13 (2), 387-409.
- Park, S. H. and G. R. Ungson (1997), "The Effect of National Culture, Organizational Complementarity, and Economic Motivation on Joint Venture Dissolution," *Academy of Management Journal*, 40 (2), 279-307.
- Parmigiani, A. and M. Rivera-Santos (2011), "Clearing a Path through the Forest: A Meta-Review of Interorganizational Relationships," *Journal of Management*, 37 (4), 1108-36.
- Penrose, E. T. (1959), The Theory of the Growth of the Firm. New York: John Wiley.
- Pisano, G. P. (1989), "Using Equity Participation to Support Exchange: Evidence from the Biotechnology Industry," *Journal of Law Economics & Organization*, 5 (1), 109-26.
- Polidoro, F., G. Ahuja, and W. Mitchell (2011), "When the Social Structure Overshadows Competitive Incentives: The Effects of Network Embeddedness on Joint Venture Dissolution," *Academy of Management Journal*, 54 (1), 203-23.
- Poppo, L. and T. Zenger (2002), "Do Formal Contracts and Relational Governance Function as Substitutes or Complements?," *Strategic Management Journal*, 23 (8), 707-25.
- Rindfleisch, A. and J. B. Heide (1997), "Transaction Cost Analysis: Past, Present, and Future Applications," *Journal of Marketing*, 61 (4), 30-54.
- Rindfleisch, A. and C. Moorman (2001), "The Acquisition and Utilization of Information in New Product Alliances: A Strength-of-Ties Perspective," *Journal of Marketing*, 65 (2), 1-18.
- ---- (2003), "Interfirm Cooperation and Customer Orientation," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40 (4), 421-36.

- Rowley, T., D. Behrens, and D. Krackhardt (2000), "Redundant Governance Structures: An Analysis of Structural and Relational Embeddedness in the Steel and Semiconductor Industries," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 369-86.
- Rumelt, R. P. (1984), "Towards a Strategic Theory of the Firm," in *Competitive Strategic Management*, B. Lamb, ed. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Sampson, R. C. (2004), "The Cost of Misaligned Governance in R&D Alliances," *Journal of Law Economics & Organization*, 20 (2), 484-526.
- ---- (2007), "R&D Alliances and Firm Performance: The Impact of Technological Diversity and Alliance Organization on Innovation," *Academy of Management Journal*, 50 (2), 364-86.
- Sande, J. B. and S. A. Haugland (2015), "Strategic Performance Effects of Misaligned Formal Contracting: The Mediating Role of Relational Contracting," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 32 (2), 187-94.
- Schilling, M. A. (2009), "Understanding the Alliance Data," *Strategic Management Journal*, 30 (3), 233-60.
- Seabright, M. A., D. A. Levinthal, and M. Fichman (1992), "Role of Individual Attachments in the Dissolution of Interorganizational Relationships," *Academy of Management Journal*, 35 (1), 122-60.
- Shan, W. J. (1990), "An Empirical Analysis of Organizational Strategies by Entrepreneurial High-Technology Firms," *Strategic Management Journal*, 11 (2), 129-39.
- Stuart, T. E. (2000), "Interorganizational Alliances and the Performance of Firms: A Study of Growth and Innovation Rates in a High-Technology Industry," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (8), 791-811.
- Thomaz, F. and V. Swaminathan (2015), "What Goes around Comes Around: The Impact of Marketing Alliances on Firm Risk and the Moderating Role of Network Density," *Journal of Marketing*, 79 (5), 63-79.
- Thorelli, H. B. (1986), "Networks: Between Markets and Hierarchies," *Strategic Management Journal*, 7 (1), 37-51.
- Uzzi, B. (1997), "Social Structure and Competition in Interfirm Networks," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 42 (2), 417-18.
- Wassmer, U. (2010), "Alliance Portfolios: A Review and Research Agenda," *Journal of Management*, 36 (1), 141-71.
- Wathne, K. H. and J. B. Heide (2000), "Opportunism in Interfirm Relationships: Forms, Outcomes, and Solutions," *Journal of Marketing*, 64 (4), 36-51.
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984), "A Resource-Based View of the Firm," *Strategic Management Journal*, 5 (2), 171-80.
- Williamson, O. E. (1975), Markets and Hierarchies, Analysis and Antitrust Implications: A Study in the Economics of Internal Organization. New York: Free Press.
- ---- (1985), The Economic Institutions of Capitalism: Firms, Markets, Relational Contracting. New York: Free Press.
- ---- (1996), The Mechanisms of Governance. New York: Oxford University Press.

- ---- (2002), "The Theory of the Firm as Governance Structure: From Choice to Contract," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 16 (3), 171-95.
- ---- (2010), "Transaction Cost Economics: The Natural Progression," *Journal of Retailing*, 86 (3), 215-26.
- Williamson, O. E. and W. G. Ouchi (1981), "The Markets and Hierarchies Program of Research: Origins, Implications, Prospects.," in *Perspectives on Organization Design and Behavior*, A. Van de Ven and W. F. Joyce, eds. New York: Wiley.
- Wuyts, S., S. Dutta, and S. Stremersch (2004), "Portfolios of Interfirm Agreements in Technology-Intensive Markets: Consequences for Innovation and Profitability," *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (2), 88-100.
- Wuyts, S., C. Van den Bulte, G. L. Lilien, and R. Grewal (2012), "Network Governance," in *Handbook on Business to Business Marketing*.

The papers of this dissertation (pages 22-107) are not available open access, due to copyright matters.

Paper 1

Termination of R&D alliances: the role of dyadic and network governance Koval, Mariia; Wathne, Kenneth H.; Hunneman, Auke & van Oest, Rutger

Paper 2

Alliance termination and firm idiosyncratic risk: the role of governance misfit

Koval, Mariia; Wathne, Kenneth H; Hunneman, Auke & Wuyts, Stefan

Paper 3

Can alliance terminations create firm value in large alliance portfolios? Koval, Mariia

5. Summary and conclusions

In this dissertation, we examined the antecedents and consequences of unplanned alliance terminations. More specifically, we studied whether the way in which an alliance is organized could explain both the antecedents and consequences of unplanned alliance terminations. We investigated the joint effects of dyadic and network governance structures on the hazard of an unplanned termination of R&D alliances. We also examined the effects of an unplanned alliance termination on a firm's idiosyncratic risk given the way in which the alliance is organized. Finally, we investigated the implications of an unplanned alliance termination for a firm's abnormal stock returns, when a firm's alliance portfolio is larger. The findings from this dissertation provide important implications for theory and practice.

Theoretical implications

In the first essay, we examined the role of alliance governance in reducing the risk of knowledge appropriation in R&D alliances and preventing their unplanned terminations. We found that dyadic and network governance structures played a complementary role in decreasing the hazard of unplanned termination in R&D alliances. Our results show that when R&D alliances are organized as non-equity alliances, prior ties and partners' joint brokerage position increase the hazard of unplanned alliance termination. Consistent with our predictions, we also find that equity joint ventures serve to reduce the increased hazard of an unplanned alliance termination stemming from prior ties and a higher joint brokerage position. Our findings significantly extend the limited research on unplanned alliance terminations by providing further insights into how alliance governance structures might serve to decrease the hazard of unplanned alliance termination (Cui 2013; Cui et al. 2011; Greve et al. 2010; Polidoro et al. 2011). More generally, our results contribute to the literature on the interplay between governance structures in interorganizational relationships (Cao and Lumineau 2015; Poppo and Zenger 2002). We show that dyadic and network governance structures jointly serve to mitigate the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. In doing so, we also extend the growing body of literature examining the role of network governance structures in interorganizational relationships.

In the second essay, we examined the role of misaligned alliance governance (i.e., when an alliance governance structure does not align with the transaction hazards) in explaining the relationship between an unplanned alliance termination and firm idiosyncratic risk. Our findings show that the termination of a misaligned alliance, whether characterized by excess governance or a lack of governance, may lead to a reduction in a firm's idiosyncratic risk. Importantly, however, we also find that the longer the alliance lasted, the weaker the effect of excess governance, and the stronger the effect of a lack of governance, respectively. These results contribute to and extend the existing research on misaligned governance in ongoing relationships (e.g., Mooi and Ghosh 2010; Sampson 2004; Sande and Haugland 2015). We show that an unplanned alliance termination can be seen as "a correction of a governance mistake". We also show that alliance duration moderates the effect of misaligned alliance governance on a firm's idiosyncratic risk, following an announcement of an unplanned alliance termination.

In the third essay, we examined how unplanned alliance terminations could serve to create value for an alliance participating firm. Specifically, we demonstrate how an alliance termination could create abnormal returns for a firm with a larger alliance portfolio, attributing this effect to a firm's resource constraints (i.e., limited abilities to effectively manage and monitor multiple partners and to absorb new knowledge). Our findings show that this effect is reinforced for firms with partner-specific experience and with access to alternative resources, but it is less pronounced for firms with general partnering experience. This study makes a significant contribution to the alliance portfolio literature (e.g., Cui 2013; Cui and O'Connor 2012; Hoffmann 2005; Lahiri and Narayanan 2013; Rothaermel 2001; Rothaermel et al. 2006). Our results demonstrate additional performance implications of unplanned alliance terminations and how firm value can be created by optimizing an alliance portfolio.

The results of the last two essays also have important implications for the literature on the marketing-finance interface. Specifically, they reveal a relationship between an unplanned alliance termination and key financial performance metrics in marketing (Katsikeas et al. 2016; Swaminathan and Moorman 2009), namely firm idiosyncratic risk and abnormal stock returns. Finally, the findings provide implications for the broader interfirm relationship literature, as we show that an unplanned termination of interfirm relationships, like strategic alliances, can have positive performance consequences for partnering firms.

Managerial implications

The results in the dissertation have important managerial implications. Firms enter into strategic alliances in order to gain access to new resources, markets, brands, and products

(Bucklin and Sengupta 1993; Swaminathan and Moorman 2009). This in turn helps firms diversify their product portfolios, expand the geographic reach, and consequently reduce idiosyncratic risk (e.g., Mani and Luo 2015; Thomaz and Swaminathan 2015). Moreover, strategic alliances allow firms to adapt to environmental dynamism, enhance innovativeness and financial performance, signal social status and recognition and, consequently, achieve a competitive advantage (Cui and O'Connor 2012; Kale et al. 2000; Lahiri and Narayanan 2013; Rindfleisch and Moorman 2001; Stuart 2000; Wuyts et al. 2004). Thus, strategic alliances are an inevitable part of a firm's marketing strategy.

Given that more than 50 percent of strategic alliances terminate shortly after their announcement (Cui 2013; Greve et al. 2010), it is critically important to know the answers to the following questions: What are the causes of unplanned alliance terminations? What are the performance consequences of unplanned alliance terminations? The dissertation finds that dyadic and network alliance governance structures can serve to lower the hazard of unplanned alliance terminations. Importantly, our advice to managers is to be cautious when relying solely on prior ties and partners' joint brokerage position as they can increase the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination.

Our findings also demonstrate that an unplanned alliance termination is not simply the inverse of alliance success, and can have positive performance implications for alliance participating firms. Specifically, the results show that the way in which the alliance is organized determines the performance effects of an unplanned alliance termination. Termination of a misaligned alliance is likely to be interpreted by an investor as a correction of a previous "governance mistake", resulting in a reduction in a firm's idiosyncratic risk. Thus, an unplanned alliance termination can actually serve as a solution to a problem of high cash flow volatility stemming from misaligned governance. Moreover, the findings suggest that terminating an alliance with excess governance can result in a reduction in a firm's idiosyncratic risk, as long as the alliance partners have made substantial investments and become locked-in. Thus, it is important for managers to understand early that the alliance is misaligned, and, if necessary, terminate.

The dissertation also demonstrates that unplanned alliance terminations can create firm value. Specifically, the results show that the announcement of an unplanned alliance termination is associated with higher abnormal stock returns when a firm already has a large alliance portfolio. Terminating an alliance in a larger alliance portfolio can signal to an investor that a firm intends to divert from existing resource constraints and improve the effectiveness of its alliance portfolio management. Moreover, the findings suggest that it is more beneficial to

terminate an alliance in a larger alliance portfolio if a firm's amount of alternative resources is larger, and when an alliance under the hazard of unplanned termination is with a repeated partner. Thus, the dissertation provides suggestions to managers on how a firm can create value by optimizing its alliance portfolio. Specifically, managers should terminate an alliance when a firm is not able to manage and monitor effectively a larger alliance portfolio. Furthermore, managers should terminate an alliance when, in addition to a larger alliance portfolio, a firm has a larger amount of alternative resources, or when the alliance under the hazard of unplanned termination is with a repeated partner.

To be able to extract maximum benefits from strategic alliances, it is critical for marketers to understand how to enhance the stability of alliances and prevent their unplanned termination. On the other hand, if an unplanned alliance termination is necessary, it is important to recognize the causes and consequences of alliance termination. Understanding the role of alliance governance should allow managers to take correct decisions when forming alliances, but also how to handle an alliance termination. In general, understanding alliance dynamics should help marketers decide how to organize an alliance in order to develop, produce and market effectively. Overall, the findings in the dissertation provide insights into how a firm can achieve a competitive advantage by appropriately managing its strategic alliances.

Future research directions

It is unlikely that firms will not continue engaging in new strategic alliances after having experienced an unplanned alliance termination. Importantly, the way a terminated alliance has been organized can have an impact on the governance structure of a firm's future alliances. As for future research, we plan to investigate how unplanned alliance terminations affect a firm's future alliances. To the best of our knowledge, only one study examines a similar question in the context of venture capital syndicates (Zhelyazkov and Gulati 2016). The main prediction in this study is that a firm's withdrawal from a venture capital syndicate will negatively affect the firm's reputation and, consequently, decrease the likelihood of a firm's investments in new venture capital syndicates. No study has examined the link between unplanned alliance terminations and a firm's future alliance options by looking at differences in alliance governance structures.

In this dissertation, we study alliances between two partners. A separate stream of research examines multipartner alliances (i.e., alliances between more than two parties) (e.g., Lavie 2007). The literature on unplanned alliance terminations overlooks the dynamics of

multipartner alliances. A notable exception is the study of Heidl et al. (2014). Importantly, no study has examined how different combinations of governance structures of multipartner alliances affect the hazard of an unplanned alliance termination. Because relationships between each pair of partners in a multipartner alliance might be different, the effects should not necessarily be the same as for alliances between two partners. Investigating the antecedents of multipartner alliance terminations is another important future research direction.

Finally, alliance governance structures differ in their ability to facilitate knowledge transfer and the way they provide access to novel information. By appropriately configuring its alliance portfolio, a firm can improve its innovation performance. Thus, a promising area of future research is to examine how different combinations of governance structures at a level of a firm's alliance portfolio influence firm innovation performance.

REFERENCES

- Bucklin, L. P. and S. Sengupta (1993), "Organizing Successful Co-Marketing Alliances," *Journal of Marketing*, 57 (2), 32-46.
- Cao, Z. and F. Lumineau (2015), "Revisiting the Interplay between Contractual and Relational Governance: A Qualitative and Meta-Analytic Investigation," *Journal of Operations Management*, 33-34, 15-42.
- Cui, A. S. (2013), "Portfolio Dynamics and Alliance Termination: The Contingent Role of Resource Dissimilarity," *Journal of Marketing*, 77 (3), 15-32.
- Cui, A. S., R. J. Calantone, and D. A. Griffith (2011), "Strategic Change and Termination of Interfirm Partnerships," *Strategic Management Journal*, 32 (4), 402-23.
- Cui, A. S. and G. O'Connor (2012), "Alliance Portfolio Resource Diversity and Firm Innovation," *Journal of Marketing*, 76 (4), 24-43.
- Greve, H. R., J. A. C. Baum, H. Mitsuhashi, and T. J. Rowley (2010), "Built to Last but Falling Apart: Cohesion, Friction, and Withdrawal from Interfirm Alliances," *Academy of Management Journal*, 53 (2), 302-22.
- Heidl, R. A., H. K. Steensma, and C. Phelps (2014), "Divisive Faultlines and the Unplanned Dissolutions of Multipartner Alliances," *Organization Science*, 25 (5), 1351-71.
- Hoffmann, W. H. (2005), "How to Manage a Portfolio of Alliances," *Long Range Planning*, 38 (2), 121-43.
- Kale, P., H. Singh, and H. Perlmutter (2000), "Learning and Protection of Proprietary Assets in Strategic Alliances: Building Relational Capital," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (3), 217-37.
- Katsikeas, C. S., N. A. Morgan, L. C. Leonidou, and G. T. M. Hult (2016), "Assessing Performance Outcomes in Marketing," *Journal of Marketing*, 80 (2), 1-20.
- Lahiri, N. and S. Narayanan (2013), "Vertical Integration, Innovation, and Alliance Portfolio Size: Implications for Firm Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 34 (9), 1042-64.
- Lavie, D. (2007), "Alliance Portfolios and Firm Performance: A Study of Value Creation and Appropriation in the Us Software Industry," *Strategic Management Journal*, 28 (12), 1187-212.
- Mani, S. and X. M. Luo (2015), "Product Alliances, Alliance Networks, and Shareholder Value: Evidence from the Biopharmaceutical Industry," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 32 (1), 9-22.
- Mooi, E. A. and M. Ghosh (2010), "Contract Specificity and Its Performance Implications," *Journal of Marketing*, 74 (2), 105-20.
- Polidoro, F., G. Ahuja, and W. Mitchell (2011), "When the Social Structure Overshadows Competitive Incentives: The Effects of Network Embeddedness on Joint Venture Dissolution," *Academy of Management Journal*, 54 (1), 203-23.
- Poppo, L. and T. Zenger (2002), "Do Formal Contracts and Relational Governance Function as Substitutes or Complements?," *Strategic Management Journal*, 23 (8), 707-25.

- Rindfleisch, A. and C. Moorman (2001), "The Acquisition and Utilization of Information in New Product Alliances: A Strength-of-Ties Perspective," *Journal of Marketing*, 65 (2), 1-18.
- Rothaermel, F. T. (2001), "Incumbent's Advantage through Exploiting Complementary Assets Via Interfirm Cooperation," *Strategic Management Journal*, 22 (6-7), 687-99.
- Rothaermel, F. T., M. A. Hitt, and L. A. Jobe (2006), "Balancing Vertical Integration and Strategic Outsourcing: Effects on Product Portfolio, Product Success, and Firm Performance," *Strategic Management Journal*, 27 (11), 1033-56.
- Sampson, R. C. (2004), "The Cost of Misaligned Governance in R&D Alliances," *Journal of Law Economics & Organization*, 20 (2), 484-526.
- Sande, J. B. and S. A. Haugland (2015), "Strategic Performance Effects of Misaligned Formal Contracting: The Mediating Role of Relational Contracting," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 32 (2), 187-94.
- Stuart, T. E. (2000), "Interorganizational Alliances and the Performance of Firms: A Study of Growth and Innovation Rates in a High-Technology Industry," *Strategic Management Journal*, 21 (8), 791-811.
- Swaminathan, V. and C. Moorman (2009), "Marketing Alliances, Firm Networks, and Firm Value Creation," *Journal of Marketing*, 73 (5), 52-69.
- Thomaz, F. and V. Swaminathan (2015), "What Goes around Comes Around: The Impact of Marketing Alliances on Firm Risk and the Moderating Role of Network Density," *Journal of Marketing*, 79 (5), 63-79.
- Wuyts, S., S. Dutta, and S. Stremersch (2004), "Portfolios of Interfirm Agreements in Technology-Intensive Markets: Consequences for Innovation and Profitability," *Journal of Marketing*, 68 (2), 88-100.
- Zhelyazkov, P. I. and R. Gulati (2016), "After the Break-Up: The Relational and Reputational Consequences of Withdrawals from Venture Capital Syndicates," *Academy of Management Journal*, 59 (1), 277-301.

Series of Dissertations

2018

4/2018	Mariia Koval Antecedents and Consequences of Unplanned Alliance Terminations
3/2018	Maximilian Rohrer Three Essays in Financial Economics
2/2018	Viacheslav lurkov The role of alliance networks for firms' geographic scope and performance: A structural embeddedness perspective
1/2018	Huy-Vu Nguyen Wealth Inequality
2017	
14/2017	Mirha Suangic Aspirations and Daring Confrontations: Investigating the Relationship between Employees' Aspirational Role-Identities and Problem-Oriented Voice
13/2017	Beniamino Callegari A heterodox theoretical interpretation
12/2017	Sepideh Khayati Zahiri Essays on Predictive Ability of Macroeconomic Variables and Commodity Prices
11/2017	Tonje Hungnes Reorganizing healthcare services: Sensemaking and organizing innovation
10/2017	Eileen Fugelsnes From backstage to consensus: A study of the Norwegian pension reform process
9/2017	Knut-Eric Neset Joslin Experimental Markets with Frictions
8/2017	Sumaya AlBalooshi Switching between Resources: Psychosocial Resources as Moderators of the Impact of Powerlessness on Cognition and Behavior
7/2017	Zongwei Lu Three essays on auction theory and contest theory
6/2017	Frode Martin Nordvik Oil Extraction and The Macroeconomy
5/2017	Elizabeth Solberg Adapting to Changing Job Demands: A Broadcast Approach to Understanding Self-Regulated Adaptive Performance and Cultivating it in Situated Work Settings

4/2017 Natalia Bodrug

Essays on economic choices and cultural values

3/2017 Vegard Høghaug Larsen

Drivers of the business cycle: Oil, news and uncertainty

2/2017 Nikolay Georgiev

Use of Word Categories with Psychological Relevance Predicts Prominence in Online Social Networks

1/2017 Sigmund Valaker

Breakdown of Team Cognition and Team Performance: Examining the influence of media and overconfidence on mutual understanding, shared situation awareness and contextualization

2016

12/2016 Xiaobei Wang

Strategizing in Logistics Networks: The role of Logistics Service Providers as mediators and network facilitators

11/2016 Prosper Ameh Kwei-Narh

A mid-range theory of monitoring behaviors, shared task mental models, and team performance within dynamic settings

10/2016 Anton Diachenko

Ownership type, performance, and context: Study of institutional and industrial owners

9/2016 Ranvir S. Rai

Innovation in Practice: A Practice-Theoretical Exploration of Discontinuous Service Innovations

8/2016 Gordana Abramovic

Effective Diversity Management on the Line - Who and How? On the role of line managers in organisations with a diverse workforce

7/2016 Mohammad Eiaz

Why do some service innovations succeed while others fail? A comparative case study of managing innovation processes of two internet-based aggregation financial services at Finn.no (Penger.no)

6/2016 Asmund Rygh

Corporate governance and international business: Essays on multinational enterprises, ownership, finance and institutions

5/2016 Chen Qu

Three Essays on Game Theory and Patent-Pool Formation

4/2016 Arash Aloosh

Three Essays in International Finance

3/2016 John-Erik Mathisen

Elaborating and Implemental Mindsets in Business-related Behavior: An Investigation of the Interface between Cognition and Action. How goals and plans emerge and relate to cognition and action in business.

2/2016 Øvvind Nilsen Aas Essays in industrial organization and search theory 1/2016 Dominaue Kost Understanding Transactive Memory Systems in Virtual Teams: The role of integration and differentiation, task dependencies and routines 2015 8/2015 Andreea Mitrache Macroeconomic Factors and Asset Prices – An Empirical Investigation 7/2015 Lene Pettersen Working in Tandem: A Longitudinal Study of the Interplay of Working Practices and Social Enterprise Platforms in the Multinational Workplace 6/2015 Di Cui Three Essays on Investor Recognition and Mergers & Acquisitions 5/2015 Katia Maria Hvdle Cross border practices: Transnational Practices in Professional Service Firms 4/2014 Ieva Martinkenaitė-Pujanauskienė Evolutionary and power perspectives on headquarters-subsidiary knowledge transfer: The role of disseminative and absorptive capacities 3/2015 Tarje Gaustad The Perils of Self-Brand Connections: Consumer Response to Changes in Brand Image 2/2015 Jakob Utgård Organizational form, local market structure and corporate social performance in retail 1/2015 Drago Bergholt Shocks and Transmission Channels in Multi-Sector Small Open Economies 2014 13/2014 Nam Huong Dau Asset Pricing with Heterogeneous Beliefs and Portfolio Constraints 12/2014 Vegard Kolbjørnsrud On governance in collaborative communities 11/2014 Ignacio García de Olalla López Essays in Corporate Finance 10/2014 Sebastiano Lombardo Client-consultant interaction practices: Sources of ingenuity, value creation and strategizing 9/2014 Leif Anders Thorsrud International business cycles and oil market dynamics 8/2014 Ide Katrine Birkeland Fire Walk with Me: Exploring the Role of Harmonious and Obsessive Passion in Wellbeing and Performance at Work 7/2014 Sinem Acar-Burkay Essays on relational outcomes in mixed-motive situations

6/2014 Susanne H.G. Poulsson

On Experiences as Economic Offerings

5/2014 Eric Lawrence Wiik

Functional Method as a Heuristic and Research Perspective: A Study in Systems Theory

4/2014 Christian Enger Gimsø

Narcissus and Leadership Potential - The measurement and implications of narcissism in leadership selection processes

3/2014 Mehrad Moeini-Jazani

When Power Has Its Pants Down: Social Power Increases Sensitivity to Internal Desires

2/2014 Yuriy Zhovtobryukh

The role of technology, ownership and origin in M&A performance

1/2014 Siv Staubo

Regulation and Corporate Board Composition

2013

9/2013 Bjørn Tallak Bakken

Intuition and analysis in decision making: On the relationships between cognitive style, cognitive processing, decision behaviour, and task performance in a simulated crisis management context

8/2013 Karl Joachim Breunig

Realizing Reticulation: A Comparative Study of Capability Dynamics in two International Professional Service Firms over 10 years

7/2013 Junhua Zhong

Three Essays on Empirical Asset Pricing

6/2013 Ren Lu

Cluster Networks and Cluster Innovations: An Empirical Study of Norwegian Centres of Expertise

5/2013 Therese Dille

Inter-institutional projects in time: a conceptual framework and empirical investigation

4/2013 Thai Binh Phan

Network Service Innovations: Users' Benefits from Improving Network Structure

3/2013 Terje Gaustad

Creating the Image: A Transaction Cost Analysis of Joint Value Creation in the Motion Picture Industry

2/2013 Anna Swärd

Trust processes in fixed-duration alliances: A multi-level, multi-dimensional, and temporal view on trust

1/2013 Sut I Wong Humborstad

Congruence in empowerment expectations: On subordinates' responses to disconfirmed experiences and to leaders' unawareness of their empowerment expectations

9/2012 Robert Buch

Interdependent Social Exchange Relationships: Exploring the socially embedded nature of social exchange relationships in organizations

8/2012 Ali Faraii-Rad

When the message feels right: Investigating how source similarity enhances message persuasiveness

7/2012 Marit Anti

Commercial friendship from a customer perspective: Exploring social norm of altruism in consumer relationships and self-interest-seeking behavior

6/2012 Birgit Helene Jevnaker

Vestiges of Design-Creation: An inquiry into the advent of designer and enterprise relations

5/2012 Erik Aadland

Status decoupling and signaling boundaries: Rival market category emergence in the Norwegian advertising field, 2000-2010

4/2012 Ulaş Burkay

The Rise of Mediating Firms: The Adoption of Digital Mediating Technologies and the Consequent Re-organization of Industries

3/2012 Tale Skjølsvik

Beyond the 'trusted advisor': The impact of client-professional relationships on the client's selection of professional service firms

2/2012 Karoline Hofslett Kopperud

Well-Being at Work: On concepts, measurement, and leadership influence

1/2012 Christina G. L. Nerstad

In Pursuit of Success at Work: An Empirical Examination of the Perceived Motivational Climate, Its Outcomes and Antecedents

2011

12/2011 Kjell Jørgensen

Three Articles on Market Microstructure at the Oslo Stock Exchange (OSE)

11/2011 Siri Valseth

Essays on the information content in bond market order flow

10/2011 Elisabet Sørfiorddal Hauge

How do metal musicians become entrepreneurial? A phenomenological investigation on opportunity recognition

9/2011 Sturla Lyngnes Fjesme

Initial Public Offering Allocations

8/2011 Gard Paulsen

Betwixt and between: Software in telecommunications and the programming language Chill. 1974-1999

7/2011 Morten G. Josefsen

Three essays on corporate control

6/2011 Christopher Wales Demands, designs and decisions about evaluation: On the evaluation of postgraduate programmes for school leadership development in Norway and England 5/2011 Investors' performance and trading behavior on the Norwegian stock market 4/2011 Caroline D Ditlev-Simonsen Five Perspectives on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR): Aan empirical analysis 3/2011 Fra instrumentell rasjonalitet til tvetydighet: En analyse av utviklingen av Statskonsults tilnærming til standarden Mål- og resultatstyring (MRS) 1987-2004 2/2011 Anne Louise Koefoed Hydrogen in the making - how an energy company organises under uncertainty 1/2011 Lars Erling Olsen Broad vs. Narrow Brand Strategies: The Effects of Association Accessibility on Brand Performance 2010 8/2010 Anne Berit Swanberg Learning with Style: The relationships among approaches to learning, personality, group climate and academic performance 7/2010 Asle Fagerstrøm Implications of motivating operations for understanding the point-of-online-purchase: Using functional analysis to predict and control consumer purchasing behavior 6/2010 Carl J. Hatteland Ports as Actors in Industrial Networks 5/2010 Radu-Mihai Dimitriu Extending where? How consumers' perception of the extension category affects brand extension evaluation 4/2010 Svanhild E. Haugnes Consumers in Industrial Networks: a study of the Norwegian-Portuguese bacalhau network 3/2010 Stine Ludviasen State Ownership and Corporate Governance: Empirical Evidence from Norway and Sweden 2/2010 Anders Dvsvik

An inside story – is self-determination the key? Intrinsic motivation as mediator and moderator between work and individual motivational sources and employee outcomes. Four essays

1/2010 Ettv Raanhild Nilsen

Opportunities for learning and knowledge creation in practice

2009

8/2009 Erna Senkina Engebrethsen

Transportation Mode Selection in Supply Chain Planning

7/2009 Stein Bjørnstad

Shipshaped: Kongsberg industry and innovations in deepwater technology, 1975-2007

6/2009 Thomas Hoholm

The Contrary Forces of Innovation: An Ethnography of Innovation Processes in the Food Industry.

5/2009 Christian Heyerdahl-Larsen

Asset Pricing with Multiple Assets and Goods

4/2009 Leif-Magnus Jensen

The Role of Intermediaries in Evolving Distribution Contexts: A Study of Car Distribution

3/2009 Andreas Brekke

A Bumper? An Empirical Investigation of the Relationship between the Economy and the Environment

2/2009 Monica Skiøld Johansen

Mellom profesjon og reform: Om fremveksten og implementeringen av enhetlig ledelse i

norsk sykehusvesen

1/2009

Mona Kristin Solvoll

Televised sport: Exploring the structuration of producing change and stability in a public

service institution

2008

7/2008 Helene Loe Colman

Organizational Identity and Value Creation in Post-Acquisition Integration: The Spiralling Interaction of the Target's Contributive and the Acquirer's Absorptive Capacities

6/2008 Fahad Awaleh

Interacting Strategically within Dyadic Business Relationships: A case study from the

Norwegian Electronics Industry

5/2008 Dijana Tiplic

Managing Organizational Change during Institutional Upheaval: Bosnia-Herzegovina's

Higher Education in Transition

4/2008 Jan Merok Paulsen

Managing Adaptive Learning from the Middle

3/2008 Pingying Zhang Wenstøp

Effective Board Task Performance. Searching for Understanding into Board Failure and

Success

2/2008 Gunhild J. Ecklund

Creating a new role for an old central bank: The Bank of Norway 1945-1954

1/2008 Øystein Strøm

Three essays on corporate boards

2007

6/2007 Martha Kold Bakkevig

The Capability to Commercialize Network Products in Telecommunication

5/2007 Siw Marita Fosstenløkken

Enhancing Intangible Resources in Professional Service Firms. A Comparative Study of How Competence Development Takes Place in Four Firms

4/2007 Gro Alteren

Does Cultural Sensitivity Matter to the Maintaining of Business Relationships in the Export Markets? An empirical investigation in the Norwegian seafood industry

3/2007 Lars C. Monkerud

Organizing Local Democracy: The Norwegian Experience

2/2007 Siv Marina Flø Karlsen

The Born Global – Redefined. On the Determinants of SMEs Pace of Internationalization

1/2007 Per Engelseth

The Role of the Package as an Information Resource in the Supply Chain. A case study of distributing fresh foods to retailers in Norway

2006

10/2006 Anne Live Vaagaasar

From Tool to Actor - How a project came to orchestrate its own life and that of others

9/2006 Kjell Brynjulf Hjertø

The Relationship Between Intragroup Conflict, Group Size and Work Effectiveness

8/2006 Taran Thune

Formation of research collaborations between universities and firms: Towards an integrated framework of tie formation motives, processes and experiences

7/2006 Lena E. Bygballe

Learning Across Firm Boundaries. The Role of Organisational Routines

6/2006 Hans Solli-Sæther

Transplants' role stress and work performance in IT outsourcing relationships

5/2006 Bjørn Hansen

Facility based competition in telecommunications – Three essays on two-way access and one essay on three-way access

4/2006 Knut Boge

Votes Count but the Number of Seats Decides: A comparative historical case study of 20th century Danish, Swedish and Norwegian road policy

3/2006 Birgitte Grøgaard

Strategy, structure and the environment. Essays on international strategies and subsidiary roles

2/2006 Sverre A. Christensen

Switching Relations - The rise and fall of the Norwegian telecom industry

1/2006 Nina Veflen Olsen

Incremental Product Development. Four essays on activities, resources, and actors

6/2005 Jon Erland Bonde Lervik

Managing Matters: Transferring Organizational Practices within Multinational Companies

5/2005 Tore Mysen

Balancing Controls When Governing Agents in Established Relationships: The Influence

of Performance Ambiguity

4/2005 Anne Flagstad

How Reforms Influence Organisational Practices: The Cases of Public Roads and

Electricity Supply Organisations in Norway

3/2005 Erlend Kvaal

Topics in accounting for impairment of fixed asset

2/2005 Amir Sasson

On Mediation and Affiliation. A Study of Information Mediated Network Effects in The

Banking Industry

1/2005 Elin Kubberød

Not just a Matter of Taste - Disgust in the Food Domain

2004

10/2004 Sverre Tomassen

The Effects of Transaction Costs on the Performance of Foreign Direct Investments - An

empirical investigation

9/2004 Catherine Børve Monsen:

Regulation, Ownership and Company Strategies. The Case of European Incumbent

Telecommunications Operators

8/2004 Johannes A. Skjeltorp

Trading in Equity Markets: A study of Individual, Institutional and Corporate Trading

Decision.

7/2004 Frank Elter

Strategizing in Complex Contexts

6/2004 Qinglei Dai

Essays on International Banking and Tax-Motivated Trading

5/2004 Arne Morten Ulvnes

Communication Strategies and the Costs of Adapting to Opportunism in an Interfirm

Marketing System

4/2004 Gisle Henden

Intuition and its Role in Strategic Thinking

3/2004 Haakon O. Aa. Solheim

Essays on volatility in the foreign exchange market

2/2004 Xiaoling Yao

From Village Election to National Democratisation. An Economic-Political Microcosm

Approach to Chinese Transformation

1/2004 Ragnhild Silkoset

Collective Market Orientation in Co-producing Networks

2003

2/2003 Egil Marstein

The influence of stakeholder groups on organizational decision-making in public hospitals

1/2003 Joyce Hartog McHenry

Management of Knowledge in Practice. Learning to visualise competence

2002

6/2002 Gay Bjercke

Business Landscapes and Mindscapes in People's Republic of China. A Study of a Sino-

Scandinavian Joint Venture

5/2002 Thorvald Hærem

Task Complexity and Expertise as Determinants of Task Perceptions and Performance:

Why Technology-Structure Research has been unreliable and inconclusive

4/2002 Norman T. Sheehan

Reputation as a Driver in Knowledge-Intensive Service Firms:

An exploratory study of the relationship between reputation and value creation in

petroleum exploration units

3/2002 Line Lervik Olsen

Modeling Equity, Satisfaction and Loyalty in Business-to-Consumer Markets

2/2002 Fred H. Strønen

Strategy Formation from a Loosely Coupled System Perspective. The Case of Fjordland

1/2002 Terje I. Våland

Emergence of conflicts in complex projects. The role of informal versus formal governance

mechanisms in understanding interorganizational conflicts in the oil industry

2001

6/2001 Kenneth H. Wathne

Relationship Governance in a Vertical Network Context

5/2001 Ming Li

Value-Focused Data Envelopment Analysis

4/2001 Lin Jiang

An Integrated Methodology for Environmental Policy Analysis

3/2001 Geir Høidal Bjønnes

Four Essays on the Market Microstructure of Financial Markets

2/2001 Dagfinn Rime

Trading in Foreign Exchange Markets. Four Essays on the Microstructure of Foreign

Exchange

1/2001 Ragnhild Kvålshaugen

The Antecedents of Management Competence. The Role of Educational Background and

Type of Work Experience

2000

1/2000 Per Ingvar Olsen

Transforming Economies. The Case of the Norwegian Electricity Market Reform